IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

SUPREME COURT 21-0672

ROYRIGUEZ PATTERSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY HONORABLE CHRISTOPHER KEMP, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY State Appellate Defender mlucey@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT <u>FINAL</u>

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. The Supreme Court should grant review in Polk County number NTA0948898.

Authorities

Iowa R. App. P. 6.106(2)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.107(2)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

Iowa Code § 910.1(1) (2019)

Iowa Code § 910.2(1)(a) (2019)

Petition for Writ of Certiorari

Iowa R. App. P. 1.107(1)

Iowa Code § 910.1(1) (2019)

Earnest v. State, 508 N.W.2d 630, 633 (Iowa 1993)

State v. Bonstetter, 637 N.W.2d 161, 166 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa Code § 910.1(1) (2019)

Iowa Code § 910.2(1)(a) (2019)

State v. Mandicino, 509 N.W.2d 481, 483 (Iowa 1993)

In re Marriage of Seyler, 559 N.W.2d 7, 10 n.3 (Iowa 1997)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)

State v. Tindell, 629 N.W.2d 357, 359 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Copenhaver, 844 N.W.2d 442, 447 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Woody, 613 N.W.2d 215, 218 (Iowa 2000)

Noble v. Iowa Dist. Court for Muscatine Cty., 919 N.W.2d 625, 632 (Iowa Ct. App. 2018)

State v. Ceretti, 871 N.W.2d 88, 96-98 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Iowa District Court for Warren Cty., 828 N.W.2d 607, 616-617 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Brown, 905 N.W.2d 846, 857 (Iowa 2018)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.107(1)(d)

Application for Discretionary Review

Iowa Code § 81406(2)(e) (2021)

State v. Stessman, 460 N.W.2d 461, 464 (Iowa 1990)

State v. Mathes, No. 17-1909, 2019 WL 1294098 (Iowa Ct. App. March 20, 2019), affirmed by an equally divided Court in State v. Mathes, No. 17-1909, 2020 WL 2267274 (Iowa May 8, 2020)

State v. Bonstetter, 637 N.W.2d 161, 170 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Roach, 920 N.W.2d 93, 99 (Iowa 2018)

Iowa Code § 707.6A(4) (2019)

Olson v. Nieman's Ltd., 579 N.W.2d 299, 309 (Iowa 1998)

Jamison v. Knosby, 423 N.W.2d 2, 6 (Iowa 1988)

State v. Klawonn, 688 N.W.2d 271, 276 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Paxton, 674 N.W.2d 106, 109 (Iowa 2004)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.108

II. Patterson has a right of appeal from the pecuniary damages restitution order entered after judgment and sentence. Alternatively, Patterson should be granted a writ of certiorari in Polk County number OWOM088283.

Authorities

Iowa R. App. P. 6.108

Iowa R. App. P. 6.103(1)

Iowa Code § 814.5 (2021)

Iowa Code § 814.6 (2021)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.107(2)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

State v Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 612 (Iowa 2009)

Right of Appeal

Iowa R. App. P. 6.101(1)(b)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.103(1)

Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(b)(3)(2021)

State v. Lacey, 968 N.W.2d 792, 798 (Iowa 2021)

Iowa Code § 910.3(8) (2021)

Iowa Code § 910.3 (2019)

Iowa Code § 910.3(9) (2021)

State v. Propps, 897 N.W.2d 91, 96 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Bonstetter, 637 N.W.2d 161, 166 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Alspach, 554 N.W.2d 882, 883 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Mayberry, 415 N.W.2d 644, 646 (Iowa 1987)

Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019)

State v. Richardson, 890 N.W.2d 609, 617 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Lathrop, 781 N.W.2d 288, 295 (Iowa 2010)

Hester v. United States, 139 S.Ct. 509, 511 (2019)

Iowa Code § 910.7A (2021)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.101(1)(b)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.103(1)

Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(3)(2021)

State v Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127, 135 (Iowa 2017)

Jurisdiction

Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(3) (2021)

Iowa Code § 707.6A(4)(2021)

State v. Damme, 944 N.W.2d 98, 104 (Iowa 2020)

State v. Mischke, No. 19-1510, 2022 WL 246244, at * 1 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 27, 2022)

State v. Hutchcroft, No. 20-0301, 2021 WL 2452153, at *1 n.1 (Iowa Ct. App. June 16, 2021)

State v. Jauregui, No. 20-0629, 2021 WL 1663598, at *1 n.1 (Iowa Ct. App. April 28, 2021)

If Patterson does not have a right of appeal, he has been denied equal protection and due process.

Iowa Code § 910.1(3) (2019)

Iowa Code § 910.1(6) (2021)

State v. Bonstetter, 637 N.W.2d 161, 165 (Iowa 2001)

Equal Protection

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. I § 6

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862, 878 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Doe, 927 N.W.2d 656, 661 (Iowa 2019)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.103(1)

Shortridge v. State, 478 N.W.2d 613, 615 (Iowa 1991), superseded by statute on other grounds, 1992 Iowa Acts ch. 1212, § 38 (codified as Iowa Code § 822.9 (1993)

Iowa Code § 910.3(5) (2021)

State v. Blakley, 534 N.W.2d 645, 648-49 (Iowa 1995)

Iowa Code § 910.3(10) (2021)

Due process

U.S. Const. amend. V

U. S. Const. XIV, § 1

Iowa Const. art. I, § 9

Lewis v. Jaeger, 818 N.W.2d 165, 181 (Iowa 2012)

Exira Community Sch. Dist. v. State, 512 N.W.2d 787, 792-93 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Reyes, 744 N.W.2d 95, 101 (Iowa 2008)

Iowa Code § 910.3(10) (2021)

State v. Jose, 636 N.W.2d 38, 46 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Alspach, 554 N.W.2d 882, 883-84 (Iowa 1996

State v. Blank, 570 N.W.2d 924, 926 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Janz, 358 N.W.2d 547 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Ashley, 462 N.W.2d 279, 281 (Iowa 1990)

State v. Delano, 161 N.W.2d 66, 72 (Iowa 1968)

State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 646 (Iowa 2010)

If Patterson does not have an appeal of right in OWOM088283, and his constitutional rights have not been violated, he requests the Court treat his notice of appeal as a petition for writ of certiorari.

Iowa Code § 910.7(5)(2021)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.108

Ary v. Iowa Dist. Ct., 735 N.W.2d 621, 624 (Iowa 2007)

Christensen v. Iowa Dist. Ct., 578 N.W.2d 675, 678 (Iowa 1998)

Amro v. Iowa Dist. Ct., 429 N.W.2d 135, 138 (Iowa 1988)

III. The pecuniary damages restitution order lacks substantial evidentiary support.

Authorities

State v. Bonstetter, 637 N.W.2d 161, 167-68 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Roach, 920 N.W.2d 93, 99 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Klawonn, 688 N.W.2d 271, 274 (Iowa 2004)

Iowa Code § 910.2 (2021)

State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 644 (Iowa 2010)

Iowa Code § 910.2(1)(a) (2021)

State v. Alspach, 554 N.W.2d 882, 883 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Mayberry, 415 N.W.2d 644, 646 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 620 (Iowa 2009)

Iowa Code § 910.1(10) (2021)

Iowa Code § 910.1(6) (2021)

State v. Holmberg, 449 N.W.2d 376, 377 (Iowa 1989)

State v. Tutor, 538 N.W.2d 894, 897 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995)

State v. Waigand, 953 N.W.2d 689, 694 (Iowa 2021)

State v. Shears, 920 N.W.2d 527, 541 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Watts, 587 N.W.2d 750, 751 (Iowa 1998)

Earnest v. State, 508 N.W.2d 630, 633 (Iowa 1993)

State v. Wagner, 484 N.W.2d 212, 216 (Iowa Ct. App. 1992)

Iowa Code § 707.6A(4) (2019)

State v. Edouard, 854 N.W.2d 421, 450 (Iowa 2014)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.1101(c)(4)

Olson v. Nieman's Ltd., 579 N.W.2d 299, 309 (Iowa 1998)

Lackman v. Liedman, No. 15-1062, 2016 WL 3002744, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. May 25, 2016)

Hopping v. College Block Partners, 599 N.W.2d 703, 706 (Iowa 1999)

Jamison v. Knosby, 423 N.W.2d 2, 6 (Iowa 1988)

If the Court finds the district court's pecuniary damages restitution order is supported by substantial evidence, a remand is nevertheless required.

Iowa Code § 910.3(1)(2021)

Iowa Code § 915.86(2) (2021)

State v. Waigand, 953 N.W.2d 689, 695-696 (Iowa 2021)

State v. Klawonn, 688 N.W.2d 271, 276 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Paxton, 674 N.W.2d 106, 109 (Iowa 2004)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the issues raised involve a substantial issue of first impression in Iowa and substantial questions of enunciating or changing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d), 6.1101(2)(c), and 6.1001(2)(f). Specifically, the Supreme Court should decide the following questions: (1) what is the proper form of review of a "restitution" order entered in a dismissed case; (2) whether there is a right of appeal from a pecuniary damages restitution order entered after judgment and sentencing; (3) if there is not a right of appeal from a pecuniary damages restitution entered after judgment and sentencing, does this violate due process and equal protection as guaranteed by the United States and Iowa Constitutions; and (4) whether the pecuniary damages restitution order lacked substantial evidentiary support.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Appellant Royriguez Patterson appeals the pecuniary damages restitution order entered in Polk County number NTA0948898 (failure to maintain control in violation of Iowa Code section 321.288(1) (2019)) and Polk County number OWOM088283 (serious injury by motor vehicle- reckless driving in violation of Iowa Code section 707.6A(4) (2019)).

Course of Proceeding and Disposition Below: On February 12, 2020, Patterson was charged with failure to maintain control in violation of Iowa Code section 321.288(1) (2019) after an automobile collision on an entrance ramp to I-235. (NTA0948898 Complaint)(App. pp. 5-7). He was also arrested for operating while intoxicated. (OWOM088283 Complaint)(App. pp. 8-10).

On March 20, 2020, Patterson was formally charged by Trial Information with Count I: serious injury by vehicle (OWI) in violation of Iowa Code section 707.6A(4); Count II: serious injury by vehicle (reckless) in violation of Iowa Code section 707.6A(4); and Count III: operating while intoxicated in violation of Iowa Code section 321J.2. (OWOM088283 TI) (App. pp. 11-13). Patterson reached a plea agreement with the prosecution. Patterson entered a guilty plea to Count II: serious injury by vehicle (reckless). (OWOM088283 Plea)(App. pp. 14-15). As part of the plea agreement, the remaining counts and NTA0948898 were dismissed with the requirement Patterson "pay court costs and any victim restitution associated with these counts and/or cases." (12/21/20 Order p. 5)¹ (App. p. 24).

After sentencing in OWOM088283, the State sought victim pecuniary damages restitution. (2/8/21 Motion to Amend Sentence to Include Restitution)(App. p. 27). The district court entered a supplemental order requiring Patterson to pay \$42,100.92 in victim restitution. (Suppl. Order)(App. pp. 28-29). Patterson objected to the

¹ References to court documents without a case number are documents filed in both cases.

supplemental order. (3/5/21 Motion to Amend Sentence) (App. pp. 30-33).

A restitution hearing was held on April 13, 2021. (Tr. p. 1L1-25)². The district court ordered Patterson to pay restitution in the amount of \$34,512.93 for lost wages for the entire year of 2020. (4/13/21 Ruling)(App. pp. 34-38). Patterson filed a Notice of Appeal from the restitution order. (NOA) (App. p. 39).

The Supreme Court ordered statements regarding its jurisdiction in NTA0948898. (6/1/21 SCt Order)(App. pp. 40-42). After the parties submitted statements, the Supreme Court ordered the jurisdiction issues briefed and submitted with the appeal. (App. for Discretionary Review/Petition for Cert.; Resistance; Reply; 10/13/21 SCt Order)(App. pp. 43-75).

<u>Facts</u>: Patterson admitted that "[o]n 2/12/2020 in Polk County, Iowa, [he] unintentionally caused serious injury

² All references to the restitution transcript are 'Tr.' without further description.

including a broken leg to James Tidwell by willfully driving in a manner that was with wanton disregard for the safety of others and in the process rear-ended Mr. Tidwell's vehicle."

(OWOM088283 Plea p. 2)(App. p. 15).

James Tidwell testified at the April 13, 2021 restitution hearing. (Tr. p. 5L1-7). On February 12, 2020, Tidwell's vehicle was struck from behind which caused his vehicle to hit the dividing wall head-on and to ricochet back across the interstate. (Tr. p. 5L14-19). Tidwell later learned that Patterson was the driver of the vehicle which hit him. (Tr. p. 6L13-23).

Tidwell described his injuries resulting from the accident. He suffered a broken humerus bone (upper arm), dislocated left shoulder, a dislocated right hip, fractured acetabulum (hip socket), fractured vertebrae, and a spleen injury. (Tr. p. 5L19-25). Tidwell stated that he was hospitalized for approximately 19 days. He had participated in physical therapy and was then awaiting insurance approval for additional therapy.

Tidwell stated that he still struggled to walk. (Tr. p. 6L1-12). Tidwell stated that it would take 18 to 24 months for him to recover from the hip injury. (Tr. p. 6L8-10, 12L9-12).

Tidwell testified that he had not worked since the accident. (Tr. p. 7L1-5, p. 9L6-7, p. 29L20-p. 30L2). He had previously worked construction for 30 years. (Tr. p. 6L10-11). When asked which medical provider indicated he was unable to work, Tidwell did not answer the question. Instead he stated that he had not been released to return to work and did not need a doctor's note. (Tr. p. 12L13-p. 14L16). Tidwell applied for disability, but was denied and was in the appeal process. (Tr. p. 14L-24, p. 26L18-p. 27L4). Tidwell had not attempted to obtain a job which encompassed "light duty." (Tr. p. 35L2-15).

In 2019, Tidwell was employed by A1 Concrete Leveling. (Tr. p. 16L8-20, p. 17L11-19). He was laid off somewhere between November 27, 2019 and December 1, 2019. (Tr. p. 18L21-p. 19L25). Tidwell's 2019 W2 was admitted as

evidence. (Ex. 1)(Conf. App. p. 13). Tidwell stated his 2019 W2 did not include \$6,000 in unemployment benefits he received while laid-off and an estimated \$6,000-7,000 earned from other employment. (Tr. p. 7L9-18).

Tidwell first testified that he did not work in 2020 and did not file taxes in 2020. (Tr. p. 12L4-8). He later said he was working on-contract in January and February 2020 as a detailer for a transport company. He did not have the 1099 for the job due to a move. He estimated that he made approximately \$700 and did not need to file taxes in 2020. (Tr. p. 7L9-18, p. 14L25-p. 15L25).

When Tidwell was laid off in late 2019, he did not apply for unemployment because he was working for the transport company. (Tr. p. 18L21-p. 19L20). Tidwell stated that he stopped getting unemployment benefits approximately two to three months before the accident on February 12, 2020. (Tr. p. 20L8-21). Tidwell testified that his unemployment benefits stopped because he could no longer say that he was ready and

available to work. He had informed is boss at A1 that he was not returning to work after the seasonal lay-off. He instead was signing up on the Labors' Union hiring list. (Tr. p. 20L22-p. 21L18, p. 31L8-25). Tidwell testified that he had put his name on the hiring list prior to the accident but had not worked any jobs through the union in 2020. (Tr. p. 23L2-8).

Tidwell agreed that the W2 from A1 Concrete did not accurately reflect his 2020 income. Tidwell asserted that his 2020 wages would have been more because he would have been working jobs through the union hall. (Tr. p. 23L9-12). However, he could not definitively say that he would not have returned to A1 Concrete if his former boss has come back to him with a "sweet offer." (Tr. p. 31L8-25).

Tidwell removed his name from the hiring list at the union hall sometime after the accident. He did not need to provide a doctor's note because he did not work for the Union. (Tr. p. 23L5-25). Tidwell did not believe that Covid would have affected his work opportunities in 2020. However, in the

wintertime the hiring list is very long because everyone was on lay-off. (Tr. p. 24L15-p. 25L13).

Tidwell received \$6,000 from the attorney general's office for lost wages in 2020. (Tr. p. 27L12-24). He did not receive any payments from an insurance policy. But he did receive a government stimulus check. (Tr. p. 29L3-15).

ARGUMENT

I. The Supreme Court should grant review in Polk County number NTA0948898.

Preservation of Error.

The case was dismissed on December 21, 2020.

(12/21/20 Order)(App. pp. 20-26). Upon the State's motion, the district court entered a supplemental order imposing \$42,100.92 in pecuniary damages. (2/8/21 Motion to Amend Sentence to Include Restitution; 2/8/21 Suppl. Order)(App. pp. 27-29). Patterson objected to the inclusion of the restitution. (3/5/21 Motion to Amend Sentence)(App. pp. 30-33). After hearing, the district court entered a ruling imposing \$34,512.93 for lost wages for the entire year of 2020.

(4/13/21 Ruling)(App. pp. 34-38). Patterson filed a timely notice of appeal. (NOA)(App. p. 39).

The Supreme Court ordered statements regarding its jurisdiction. (6/1/21 SCt Order)(App. pp. 40-42). The Supreme Court granted appellate counsel additional time to file the statement in order to obtain the transcripts. (6/1/21 SCt Order) (App. pp. 40-42). After the parties submitted statements, the Supreme Court ordered the issue briefed and submitted with the appeal. (10/13/21 SCt Order)(App. pp. 73-75).

Error is preserved by the timely notice of appeal, the subsequent applications to treat the notice of appeal as an application for discretionary review or a petition for writ of certiorari and the Supreme Court's October 13, 2021 Order. (NOA; App. for Discretionary Review/Petition for Cert.; 10/13/21 SCt Order)(App. pp. 39, 43-56, 73-75). Iowa R. App. P. 6.108.

Standard of Review.

The Rules of Appellate Procedure guide the Court's granting an application for discretionary review and a petition for writ of certiorari. See Iowa R. App. P. 6.106(2) (Discretionary Review); Iowa R. App. P. 6.107(2) (Certiorari). The appellate courts "constitute courts for correction of errors at law." Iowa R. App. P. 6.907.

Discussion.

Polk County case number NTA0948898 was dismissed and no conviction was entered. (12/21/20 Order p. 5)(App. p. 24). However, a "restitution" order has been entered in the dismissed case. (4/13/21 Ruling)(App. pp. 34-38). Had Patterson been convicted of the simple misdemeanor offense of failure to maintain control, he would not be subject to a restitution order for pecuniary damages. See Iowa Code § 910.1(1) (2019) (stating "[h]owever, "criminal activities" does not include simple misdemeanors under chapter 321."); Iowa Code § 910.2(1)(a) (2019) (stating "In all criminal cases in

which there is a plea of guilty, verdict of guilty, or special verdict upon which a judgment of conviction is rendered, the sentencing court shall order that restitution be made by each offender to the victims of the offender's *criminal activities* ...)(emphasis added).

Petition for Writ of Certiorari

A writ of certiorari is applicable where a party claims an associate district court judge exceeded the judge's jurisdiction or otherwise acted illegally. Iowa R. App. P. 1.107(1). Iowa Code 910.1(1) (2019) specifically exempts simple misdemeanors under Iowa Code Chapter 321 from the definition of "criminal activity" for restitution purposes. Iowa Code § 910.1(1) (2019).

Patterson agreed to pay victim restitution as appropriate. (OWOM088283 Plea; Sent. Tr. p. 11L14-20)(App. pp. 14-15). The dismissal order entered in NTA0948898 did not impose victim restitution in the dismissed case. The paragraph ordering Patterson to pay victim pecuniary damages in the

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