IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 21-0672

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

ROYRIGUEZ PATTERSON, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY THE HONORABLE CHRISTOPHER KEMP, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

MARTHA E. TROUT

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-8894 (fax) martha.trout@ag.iowa.gov

JOHN SARCONE Polk County Attorney

KAILEY GRAY Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. There is no basis or need to grant review of the dismissed simple misdemeanor traffic case NTAO948898.

Jurisdiction

This court lacks jurisdiction to consider this claim. Patterson seeks to appeal a dismissed simple misdemeanor case but there is no right to appeal a dismissed simple misdemeanor. In State v. Jones, No. 12-0736, 2013 WL 5761822, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 23, 2013), the Iowa Court of Appeals concluded that the right to appeal does not exist from a simple misdemeanor restitution order. The *Jones* court reviewed the case law to conclude that no right to appeal exists from an order in a simple misdemeanor case on a hearing to modify a restitution order. Id. The court explicitly rejected Jones's argument that an order issued after a hearing pursuant to section 910.7 of the Code constituted an independent and separate judgment. *Id.* Rather, the court concluded that the hearing under section 910.3 and 910.7 are extensions of the criminal sentence and are subject to appeal in accordance with section 814.6(1)(a). Id. The court then concluded that because the sentencing order in that case arose from a simple

misdemeanor there was no right to appeal. *Id.* The ruling is consistent with both *State v. Janz*, 358 N.W.2d 547, 549 (Iowa 1984) and *State v. Alspach*, 552 N.W.2d 882, 884 (Iowa 1996). *Jones* established that the right to appeal a restitution order in a simple misdemeanor case does not exist.

In addition, under the terms of the plea agreement the State agreed to dismiss the simple misdemeanor traffic violation. Pet. To Plead Guilty (10/9/20); App. 14-15. An appeal is not permitted from a dismissal. Iowa Code section 814.6(1)(a) grants an appeal from a "final judgment of sentence." Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a). A final judgment in a criminal case means the sentence. See State v. Propps, 897 N.W.2d 91, 96 (Iowa 2017) (quoting Daughenbaugh v. State, 805 N.W.2d 591, 595 (Iowa 2011)). While the State does not dispute that dismissals of criminal cases even with an agreement of costs or fees or pecuniary damages are commonplace, an appeal is only authorized by statute and the right applies in a narrow set of circumstances; a dismissal of the criminal case is not one of them.

The State notes that in *State v. Abbasi*, No. 14-1576, 2015
WL4935705, at *1-2 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 19, 2015), the Court of
Appeals determined that the defendant could appeal costs associated

with a dismissed simple misdemeanor case. The court found that because the costs for the simple misdemeanor were assessed through the sentencing order in the serious misdemeanor case that could be appealed, the court could "consider the claim of an illegal sentence at anytime." Id. at *2; accord State v. Tielebein, No. 21-0352, 2022 WL 610558, at n. 6 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 2, 2022). These cases do not impact the analysis of whether this court should grant review because the restitution at issue here were not for court costs but for victim restitution. OWOM088283 Supp. Order (2/8/21); App. 28. In this case, the amount of restitution was not entered as part of the original sentencing order but was entered *after* the original sentencing order. Order Plea and Sent. (12/21/20); App. 20-25. After the State obtained the amount of pecuniary damages and filed a statement, the district court approved the amount. Motion to Amend. Sent. (2/8/21), OWOM088283 Supp. Order (2/8/21); App. 27-28. Patterson challenged the amount and the district court held a hearing. Motion to Amend Sent. Appeal Rest. (3/5/21), Order Setting Hearing (3/11/21); App. 30, - -. Patterson had an opportunity to challenge restitution below and can only challenge the amount of restitution – from a final judgment which was entered in

OWOMo88283 through a certiorari action in accordance with Iowa Code § 910.7(5). He cannot appeal the dismissed simple misdemeanor through the OWOMo88283 case. In the event that this court rejects these claims, the State asks this court to overrule *Abbasi* and *Tielebein* because they conflict with Iowa Code section 814.6(1)(a)(1) which prohibits an appeal from a simple misdemeanor. To allow a defendant to appeal a simple misdemeanor simply because the order was jointly filed with another more serious offense contravenes the plain language of the statute and legislative intent. There is no basis for direct appellate review.

Preservation of Error

The State does not agree error was preserved on this claim.

Patterson asserts that "error is preserved by the timely notice of appeal, the subsequent applications to treat the notice of appeal as an application for discretionary review or a petition for writ of certiorari and the Supreme Court's Octob3er 13, 2021 Order." Def. Brief at 28.

The Court of Appeals has noted on many occasions that although:

...this is a common statement in briefs, it is erroneous, for the notice of appeal has nothing to do with error preservation. In fact, the two concepts are mutually exclusive. As a general rule, the error preservation rules require a party to raise an issue in the trial court and obtain a ruling from the trial court.

State v. Erwin, No. 18-0523, 2018 WL 6706247, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 19, 2018) (quoting Thomas A. Mayes & Anuradha Vaitheswaran, Error Preservation in Civil Appeals in Iowa:

Perspectives on Present Practice, 55 Drake L. Rev. 39, 48 (2006) (footnotes omitted)); accord State v. Lange, 831 N.W.2d 844, 846–47 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013).

Even if it could be argued that Patterson's objection to the district court's original restitution order preserved error, he is precluded from challenging the order because he agreed, under the terms of the plea agreement, to "to pay full court costs & victim restitution for any dismissed counts and/or cases . . ." Pet. To Plead Guilty (10/9/20); App. 14-15. The payment of costs and victim restitution for "any dismissed counts and/or cases" was part of the agreement. See generally State v. McMurry, 925 N.W.2d 592, 601 (Iowa 2019) (the parties are free to agree to the apportionment of fees and costs in a plea agreement). Because this was part of the plea agreement, Patterson should not be able to renege on the agreement, especially when it was a bargained for condition of the agreement.

Standard of Review

"An appellate court reviews restitution orders for correction of errors at law." *State v. Jenkins*, 788 N.W.2d 640. 642 (Iowa 2010).

Merits

A direct appeal is not the appropriate means to review a dismissed simple misdemeanor case. Rather, the better option is either an application for discretionary review or a petition for writ of certiorari. Neither should be granted in this case as the claim lacks any merit.

Discretionary review

Under Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.106 and/or Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.73(6), the applicant must advance persuasive legal grounds to hear the case. *See State v. Shortridge*, 478 N.W.2d 613, 615 (Iowa 1991) (court's discretion to deny such applications is intended to conserve scarce judicial resources). Typically, in a discretionary review, persuasive legal grounds should present an issue of importance to the judiciary and the profession. Iowa Code § 814.6(2)(e). Further, good cause to grant discretionary review under Iowa Code section 814.6(1)(a)(3) is usually unavailable when there is an agreed-upon disposition. *See State v. Damme*, 966

N.W.2d 98, 105 (Iowa 2020) (good cause to appeal a non-mandatory sentence nor agreed to as part of the plea agreement).

In *State v. Petrie*, 478 N.W.2d 620, 622 (Iowa 1991), the court noted that Iowa Code section 815.13 (1989) authorizes the collection costs of a criminal prosecution from a defendant "unless the defendant is found not guilty." The court stressed that "nothing in this opinion prevents the parties to a plea agreement from making a provision covering the payment of costs and fees." *Id.* The plea agreement in this case provided: "Counts I and III and companion citation NTA0948898 to be dismissed at Defendant's cost." Pet. Plead Guilty (10/9/20); App. 14-15. Patterson presents no issue to review. The court's order followed existing law and he offers no persuasive reason to overturn it.

Patterson contends, however, that the court's restitution order included language that he "pay court costs and any victim restitution associated with these counts and/or cases" suggesting that the restitution order of approximately \$34,000 applies to in both the indictable and non-indictable cases. Therefore, without including the misdemeanor case in the appeal, the argument suggests that complete relief may not be had. Although there is a slight discrepancy between

the words contained in the plea agreement in which Patterson agreed to pay the costs of the dismissed action and the words used in the judgment entry, the court's order essentially acknowledges what the plea agreement contained. Pet. Plead Guilty. (10/9/20), Order Plea and Sent. (12/21/20); App. 14-15, 20-25. However, the court did not have an amount of pecuniary damages provided to it at that stage in the proceedings. The order of disposition in the case filed on December 21, 2021, had already dismissed NTA0948898 at the defendant's cost and ordered any restitution associated with the case at the time of dismissal. Order Plea and Sent. (12/21/20); App. 20-25. The judgment entry cannot be read as ordering \$34,000 in restitution in the simple misdemeanor case that was dismissed. Order Plea and Sent. (12/21/20); App. 20-25. No other restitution, other than the costs of prosecuting the simple misdemeanor, is intended by the court's order. The court later ordered restitution in the OWOM case in the amount of \$34,512.93, which appeared to be the total of lost wages that the victim, James Tidwell, sustained in 2020. Ruling on Rest. (4/13/21); App. 34-37. In the end, the restitution for the victim's damages is not ordered in the simple misdemeanor. Ruling on Rest. (4/13/21); App. 34-37. The order

containing that amount is cross-filed, perhaps as a function of electronic document filing, but there was no intent to include an order for restitution in the simple misdemeanor filed. Ruling on Rest. (4/13/21); App. 34-37. Later costs assessed in OWOMo88283 are not "associated" with the dismissed charge.

Patterson does not have a right to appeal and discretionary review is unwarranted because the defendant does not present a case of importance to the profession. While the cross-filing of orders may create ambiguity, it does not work to the substantial detriment of the defendant. Winneshiek Cty. State Bank v. Dist. Court of Allamakee Cty., 212 N.W. 391, 393 (Iowa 1927) (erroneous order is not necessarily legal). Ultimately, it does not seem a review of the simple misdemeanor is even necessary in this case. The State does not take the position that it could collect restitution in the simple misdemeanor case if the order in the OWOM case was reversed. See e.g., Iowa Code § 910.1(3) (criminal activities does not include simple misdemeanors under chapter 321). Pragmatically, it does not appear from the State's perspective that granting review on the simple misdemeanor will have any impact on the issue presented. The issue is the same with or without the inclusion of that matter. Yet, a

problem exists with the appeal as a whole. The restitution order is not an appealable order.

Writ of Certiorari

While the State agrees that a restitution order that is part of a final judgment of sentence is appealable, the restitution in OWOMo88283 was not ordered as part of the final judgment of sentence. Iowa Code section 910.3 provides that a permanent order entered at the time of sentence is part of the final judgment and may be appealed in a properly perfected appeal. Iowa Code § 910.3. The restitution order at issue here was not ordered at the time of sentencing. The judgment of sentence was entered on December 21, 2020. Judg. and Sent. (12/21/20); App. 20-25. An order to approve restitution was entered on February 8, 2021. Motion to Amend. Sent. (2/8/21); App. 27. Patterson challenged the restitution amount and, after a restitution hearing, the district court entered a final order of restitution for \$34,512.93 for lost wages on April 13, 2021. Order on Rest. (4/13/21); App. 34-37. Obviously, an order entered on April 13, 2021, was not entered at the time of sentencing when sentencing occurred months earlier in December of 2021. Review of any subsequent order for category A restitution has to be reviewed by writ of certiorari. Iowa Code §§ 910.7(4) and 910.7(5) (attempt to review or modify "any issue related to the offender's plan of restitution" must be raised in the district court and appealed by writ of certiorari). While the court may have suggested that unknown amounts of restitution could be litigated at a later date, that advice cannot create an appeal right that is not provided by the Code. Patterson provides no compelling argument that warrants review of the category A restitution order.

II. The defendant does not enjoy a statutory right to appeal an order for restitution entered after the judgment and sentence; he may only seek a writ of certiorari under Iowa Code section 910.7(5).

Jurisdiction

Patterson does not have a right to an appeal from an order for restitution entered after judgment and sentence was pronounced. Although Patterson may seek review, he must do so in accordance with Iowa Code section 910.7(5) and file a petition for writ of certiorari. Iowa Code § 910.7(5). His claim does not merit consideration either as an appeal or a certiorari action because the court did not err in ordering Patterson to pay category A restitution for lost wages the victim suffered as a result of Patterson's criminal acts.

The district court sentenced Patterson to a two-year term of probation following his conviction for serious injury by vehicle. Sent. Order (12/21/20); App. 20-25. As to pecuniary damages to the victim, the sentencing order provided, "Defendant is ordered to pay VPD in the amount of \$TBD for the costs inflicted on the victim(s) of this crime." Sent. Order (12/21/20); App. 20-25. The court did not set any amount of pecuniary damages in the sentencing order. Sent. Order (12/21/20); App. 20-25.

On February 8, 2021, the State sought to amend the sentencing order to include victim restitution for items damaged in the car crash that gave rise to the charges as well as lost wages the victim incurred. Mot. to Amend Sent. Rest. (2/8/21); App. 27. On that same date, the court entered a supplemental order of restitution in the amount of \$42,100.92 for pecuniary damages to the victim. Supp. Order (2/8/21); App. 28. This order allowed Patterson to challenge the amount of pecuniary damages and he did. Supp. Order (2/8/21), Mot. to Amend Sent. (3/5/21); App. 28, 30-33. The district court held a hearing and ordered Patterson to pay victim restitution for lost wages in the amount of \$34,512.93. Ruling on Challenge (4/13/21); App. 34-37.

Patterson filed a notice of appeal to challenge the court's order on restitution. Not. of Appeal (5/12/21); App. 39. He does not have a statutory right to appeal the court's supplemental ruling. Had Patterson appealed from his original sentence, which occurred on December 21, 2020, he would have a right to a direct appeal under Iowa Code section 910.3(8). That section provides in pertinent part:

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